Carbohydrate-Based Mimetics in Drug Design: Sugar Amino Acids and Carbohydrate Scaffolds[†]

Sibylle A. W. Gruner,^{‡,§} Elsa Locardi,[‡] Elisabeth Lohof,[‡] and Horst Kessler^{*,‡,§}

Institut für Organische Chemie und Biochemie, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstrasse 4, D-85747 Garching, Germany, and Novaspin Biotech GmbH, Mühlfeldweg 46, D-85748 Garching, Germany

Received September 24, 2001

Contents

Ι.	Introduction	491
	A. Concept	491
	B. Notes on Nomenclature	492
	C. Scope of This Review	493
II.	Synthesis of Individual SAA Building Blocks	493
	A. Furanoid SAAs	493
	1. α-SAAs	493
	2. β - and γ -SAAs	493
	3. δ -SAAs	495
	B. Pyranoid SAAs	495
	1. α-SAAs	495
	2. β -SAAs	496
	3. γ -SAAs	496
	4. δ - and ϵ -SAAs	497
III.	Carbohydrates and SAAs as Scaffolds	499
IV.	Carbohydrate Mimetics	501
	A. Linear Oligomers	502
	B. Cyclic Oligomers	503
	C. Glucosidase Inhibitors	504
V.	Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetics	504
	A. Mixed Linear and Cyclic Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetics	504
	B. Linear Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetic Homooligomers	505
	C. Turn Mimetics and Model Peptides	505
	D. Biologically Active Peptides Containing SAA Building Blocks	506
	1. Somatostatin Analogues	508
	2. SAAs in Enkephalin Analogs	508
	3. Protein: Farnesyltransferase	509
	4. Integrin-Ligands	509
VI.	Outlook and Conclusions	510
VII.	Abbreviations	511
VIII.	References	511

I. Introduction

A. Concept

Among the major classes of biomolecules, carbohydrates allow almost unlimited structural varia-

§ Novaspin Biotech GmbH.

tions. The molecular diversity of carbohydrates offers a valuable tool for drug discovery in the areas of biologically important oligosaccharides, glycoconjugates, and molecular scaffolds by investigating their structural and functional impact. The modifications such as those of the naturally occurring O-/N-glycosidic bonds remain of interest to increase the enzymatic stability, as well as to facilitate the assembly of large, diverse oligomer carbohydrate or peptidomimetic libraries by solid-phase techniques.

The high density of functional groups per unit mass and the choice of stereochemical linkages at the anomeric carbon has always challenged synthetic chemists toward a multitude of approaches to this rich class of compounds. Monosaccharides also provide rigid molecular systems (privileged structures) which can be used as molecular templates to display pharmacophoric groups in well defined spatial orientations. To generate chemically diverse carbohydrate building blocks more suitable for use in combinatorial organic synthesis, at least one amine and one carboxylic acid functional group was incorporated into the sugar ring.

Naturally Occurring Sugar Amino Acids. Sugar amino acids can be found in nature largely as construction elements.¹⁻⁴ The most prominent and abundant example is sialic acid often located peripherically on glycoproteins. This family of natural SAAs consists of *N*- and *O*-acyl derivatives of neuraminic acid **1** (Figure 1). The main substituents on nitrogen are the N-acetyl and N-glycosyl groups. Glycosaminuronic acids, **2**–**5**, are usually found in form of derivatives, such as 2-acetamido-2-deoxy-glucuronic acid, found in bacterial cell walls⁵ and 2-acetamido-2-deoxygalacturonic acid as one component of bacterial Vi antigen of *Escherichia coli*.⁶ Derivatives of glucosaminuronic acid were also detected in the cancomycin family of antibiotics similar to vancomycin.⁷

Interestingly, natural SAAs can be found in nucleoside antibiotics (for a review, see ref 8). Two different 3-amino-3-deoxy uronic acids, derivatives of 3-amino-3-deoxy-D-gulopyranuronic acid and 3-amino-3,4-dideoxy-D-xylohexopyranuronic acid, were found in ezomycin A.^{8,9} 4-Amino-4-deoxy-glucuronic acid 5, can be found in gougerotin,^{10–14} a antibiotic from *Streptomyces* bacteria, as the carbohydrate residue of the nucleoside.

The naturally occurring furanoid SAA (+)-hydantocidin **7** (Figure 1), which represents a spiro-

[†] Dedicated to Professor Lutz F. Tietze in occasion of his 60th birthday.

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: (+49) 89-289 13210. E-mail: kessler@ch.tum.de.

[‡] Institut für Organische Chemie und Biochemie.



Elisabeth Lohof was born in Miltenberg, Germany. She received her Diplom degree in Chemistry from the Technical University of Munich in 1993. She continued her graduate studies at the Technical University of Munich with Professor Horst Kessler working on the synthesis and NMR structural studies of sugar amino acid derivatives in their incorporation into peptides and received her Ph.D. degree in Chemistry in 1998.



Elsa Locardi was born in Venice, Italy, in 1971. She received her *Laurea* in Chemistry in 1996 from the University of Padova, in the group of Professor Stefano Mammi. Her studies have primarily focused on the conformational analysis of peptides using NMR and molecular modeling techniques. She has continued her biophysical research under the supervision of Professor Murray Goodman at the University of California at San Diego, CA, until 1999. She is currently working in the laboratory of Professor Horst Kessler toward her Ph.D. degree at the Technische Universität München, Germany. Her research involves the synthesis and structural determination of oligomers from sugar amino acids and mannose-based peptidomimetics.

hydanthion derivative, $^{15-17}$ exhibits herbicidal activity.

Siastatin B **8** (Figure 1) is among the class of SAAs, in which the nitrogen is located within the pyranoid ring structure. This inhibitor for both β -glucuronidase and *N*-acetylneuraminidase was isolated from a *Streptomyces* culture.¹⁸

B. Notes on Nomenclature

We use the term "sugar amino acid", SAA, as a functional, succinct classification term, although a plethora of terms have been proposed in the literature for compounds derived from SAAs. These include saccharide-peptide hybrids, glycosamino acids and glycotides,¹⁹ peptidosaccharides,²⁰ saccharopeptides,²¹⁻²³ amide-linked carbohydrates, tetrahydrofuran-(pyran) amino acids,²⁴⁻²⁶ and carbopeptoids,²⁷⁻³⁰ although the latter compounds most often do not



Horst Kessler was born in Suhl (Thuringia) Germany in 1940. He studied chemistry in Leipzig and Tübingen, where he received his Ph.D. degree with Eugen Müller in 1966 and his habilitation in 1969. He was appointed full professor for organic chemistry at the J. W. von Goethe Universität in Frankfurt in 1971. In 1989, he moved to the Technische Universität München. Prof. Kessler is the recipient of the Otto Bayer award (1986), the Max Bergmann medal for peptide chemistry (1988), the Emil Fischer medal (1997), and the Max-Planck-Forschungspreis (2001). Since 1996, he has been a member of the "Bayerische Academie der Wissenschaft". Guest professorships lead him to Halifax, Tokyo, Madison, Haifa, and Austin. His current interests are in the area of bioorganic and medicinal chemistry, with specific focus on the study of biological recognition phenomena and on conformationally oriented design of biologically active molecules, such as carbohydrates, peptidomimetics, and peptides. Another field of interest is the development and application of new NMR techniques to peptides, proteins and nucleic acis as well as their complexes.



Sibylle Gruner was born in 1972 in Munich, Germany. She started to study chemistry in 1993 at the Universität Karlsruhe, and continued her education at the Ecole Européenne de Chimie, Polymères et Matériaux de Strasbourg, France. During her master thesis with Prof. D. Seebach at the ETH Zurich, she worked on the synthesis and structural investigations of β -peptides. After receiving her degree in chemistry in 1998, she joined the research group of Prof. H. Kessler at the Technische Universität München. Her doctoral studies focus on carbohydrate-based mimetics in drug design, with special emphasis on sugar amino acids as structural templates, and key residues of bioactive peptidomimetics as well as on secondary structure investigations of sugar amino acid oligomers. In 2001, she joined Novaspin Biotech GmbH. She was the receipient of a Helmut Bredereck Lecture award at the GDCh Jahrestagung 2001.

have a peptoid functionality (IUPAC definition). The term saccharopeptides has also been used to describe oligosaccharides in which the glycosidic linkage has been replaced by an amide bond.^{31,32} Some publications use the term "sugar amino acids" for glycosylated amino acids,^{33,34} for a disaccharide based on an amino- and carboxyl cyclopropyl-carbohydrate derivative,³⁵ or in one case even for conjugates based



Figure 1. Naturally occurring sugar amino acids.

on the Michael addition of C-terminally protected amino acids to 2,3-dideoxy-hex-2-enopyranos-4-uloses. 36

In some cases the SAAs are linked to each other, and in other cases to amino acids. In this review we use the term SAA for compounds with two immediate linkages of the amino and carboxy functionalities to the carbohydrate frame (Figure 2). Further elongations with one connectivity, that is a carbon chain, are considered glycosylated amino acids or glycopeptides and are included in other extensive reviews.^{34,37–39}



Figure 2. Sugar amino acids as structural scaffolds, as carbohydrate mimetics, and as peptide mimetics.

C. Scope of This Review

The scope of this survey is to review the synthesis of SAAs, their incorporation in peptidic or saccharidic structures, and their potential use in medicinal chemistry. Besides their immediate intrinsic different pharmacological properties, SAAs can be used as building blocks for the preparation of modified analogues of biologically active peptides and/or oligosaccharides. The difference in ring size allows modification of the conformations of the peptides and carbohydrates.

On the other hand, SAAs can be used as starting compounds for different oligomers. They are potential pharmaceutical compounds and are valuable for the synthesis of natural products or analogues and also as building blocks in drug design and drug research.

II. Synthesis of Individual SAA Building Blocks

The synthesis of sugar amino acids is easily accomplished in a few steps starting from commercially available or easily accessible monosaccharides, i.e., glucose, glucosamine, diacetone glucose, galactose, etc. The amino functionality of the SAA can be introduced as an azide, cyanide or nitromethane equivalent, followed by subsequent reduction. The carboxylic function is introduced directly as CO₂, or as a hydrolyzable cyanide, by a Wittig reaction and subsequent oxidation or by selective oxidation of a primary alcohol.

A. Furanoid SAAs

1. α -SAAs

Several derivatives with an α -amino acid moiety at the anomeric position of the sugar were synthesized by Fleet et al., including glucose,⁴⁰ rhamnose,⁴¹ galactose,⁴² and mannose²⁹ (Figure 3) derivatives. The various routes developed by Fleet's group and Dondoni's group have recently been summarized in ref 34.



Figure 3. Some of Fleet's α -SAAs.

Fleet's azide precursors and N-protected SAAs are stable against epimerization; however, all free SAAs (also the pyranoid derivatives) and their respective esters equilibrate to a mixture of α - and β -anomers in solution.

This class of SAAs has also been employed as precursors to five- and six-membered spiroheterocyclic derivatives of carbohydrates such as the rhamnose functionality, required for enhanced activity analogues of hydantocidin.^{41–43} The naturally occurring (+)-hydantocidin 7^{15-17} (see Figure 1) exhibits herbicidal activity. Those spirodiketopiperazine derivatives are considered as potential inhibitors of carbohydrate processing enzymes and thus might be useful in elucidating the biosynthesis of the cell walls of mycobacteria.

2. β - and γ -SAAs

We recently reported the synthesis of the β -SAAs SAA **9** and SAA **10** as turn mimetics.^{44–46} They were synthesized as shown in Scheme 1 in good overall yield of 47% for SAA **9** and 39% for SAA **10**.^{44–47} Azides **11** and **12** have already been described by several groups.^{19,48–52} **12** was used by Teraji as a precursor for the total synthesis of chryscandin, an antifungal antibiotic.⁵² By addition of catalytic amounts of Bu₄NCl, the yields of the azide intermediate **11** were improved to 70% (instead of 48%).^{44,45}

Azidolysis is followed by quantitative deprotection of the exocyclic hydroxyl groups using acetic acid



yielding **12**.⁵¹ Reduction of the azide and Fmoc-protection is achieved simultaneously in a one-pot reaction yielding about 70% of the Fmoc-protected amine.



Figure 4. Some of Fleet's large collection of azides, used as β - and γ -SAA precursors.

Scheme 2. Synthesis of Protected *γ*-SAA Precursor 22

Fleet et al. published the synthesis of several azide precursors to β - and γ -SAAs shown in Figure 4.^{53,54}

They synthesized the β -SAA precursor **19** and the γ -SAA precursors **20** and **21** via **22**, which was obtained by the route described in Scheme 2.^{54–58} Key step of the synthesis of **22** was the hydrolysis of the side-chain acetonide of **24** and methanolysis of the lactone with intramolecular displacement of the triflate at C-2 by 5-OH.^{55,58} Side-chain hydrolysis of the acetonide of **22** afforded the γ -SAA precursor **21**, subsequent periodate cleavage, followed by immediate cyanoborohydride reduction of the resulting aldehyde in acetic acid yielded the γ -SAA precursor **20**. Overall yields for **20** and **21**, starting from D-*glycero*-D-*gulo*-heptono-1,4-lactone **23**, were 10 and 13%, respectively. Sodium borohydride reduction of the



deprotection steps and subsequent oxidation of the diol moiety with sodium periodate in the presence of catalytic amounts of ruthenium(III) chloride, led to the β -SAA precursor **19** in an overall yield starting from **23** of about 3%.

3. δ-SAAs

As dipeptide isosteres for the incorporation into peptide based drugs Le Merrer and co-workers synthesized **25** and **28** (Figure 5).⁵⁹ The benzylated



Figure 5. Some of Le Merrer's, Fleet's, and Charkraborty's furanoid δ -SAAs.

derivatives were designed as mimics for hydrophobic amino acids, and the unprotected SAAs as mimics for hydrophilic amino acids (see also section IV).

Key step of their synthesis was the one-pot silica gel assisted azidolysis followed by *O*-ring closure of the bis-epoxides **32** and **33** (Scheme 3) to yield **34** and

Scheme 3. Key Step of Le Merrer's Synthesis of 25 and 28



35 respectively. $Na_2Cr_2O_7$ oxidation of the primary hydroxyl group, treatment with an excess of diazomethane, followed by an one pot conversion of the respective azidoesters by hydrogenolysis in the presence of di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, yielded the N-Boc protected, fully benzylated SAA methylesters of **25** and **28**.

SAA **25** was also synthesized by Chakraborty's and Fleet's groups, using different reaction pathways.^{60–63}

Further, to the use as dipeptide isosteres Chakraborty et al. synthesized several δ -SAAs (Figure 5).^{60,61} The key step of their synthesis of SAA **25** and SAA **26** followed a different reaction path, in which an intramolecular 5-*exo* opening of the terminal aziridine ring (Scheme 4) of the hexose-derived substrate **36** (with the respective stereochemistry) by the γ -benzyloxy oxygen with concomitant debenzylation Scheme 4. Synthesis of 25 and 26 Starting from 36^a



 a The stereochemistry of ${\bf 36}$ determines if the synthesis results in ${\bf 25}$ or ${\bf 26}.^{61}$

occurred during pyridinium dichromate (PDC) oxidation of the primary hydroxyl group with complete stereocontrol.

At about the same time, Fleet et al. synthesized a wide range of different δ -SAAs including also **25**, to study the influence of the SAA's stereochemistry and of the hydroxyl protecting groups on the secondary structure of their linear homooligomers.^{62–68} A few representative examples are shown in Figure 5.

B. Pyranoid SAAs

The most obvious approach for the synthesis of sugar amino acids is the oxidation of amino sugars for example glucosamine. Thus, Heyns and Paulsen described the first synthesis of a sugar amino acid, glucosaminuronic acid, in 1955 by catalytic oxidation of the primary hydroxyl group,⁶⁹ in an effort to elucidate the structure of bacterial cell wall components and to synthesize analogues. The synthesis was later improved by Weidmann and Zimmerman.⁷⁰ The oxidation of the amino sugar was also used by Paulsen et al. in the early synthesis of D-galactosaminuronic acid to confirm the structure of isolated components of bacterial Vi antigen.⁶

1. α-SAAs

Dondoni and co-workers developed an elegant method for the synthesis of α -SAAs. Because of the special reactivity of the anomeric center, it was possible to introduce a thiazole as a formyl group equivalent to the sugar lactone. After hydrolysis of the thiazole, the aldehyde can be oxidized under mild conditions with Ag₂O to a carboxyl group (Scheme 5).^{71,72}

Scheme 5. Dondoni's Synthesis of α -SAAs Using the Thiazoles as a Formyl Equivalent^{71,72}





Preparation and structure determination of α -SAAs via corresponding hydantoin derivatives has been presented by Koos et al.⁷³ Starting from methyl 6-deoxy-2,3-*O*-isopropylidene- α -l-*lyxo*-hexopyranosid-4-ulose, hydantoin derivatives were synthesized under various reaction conditions. Selective acid hydrolysis of the isopropylidene group followed by basic hydrolysis of the hydantoin ring gave the desired products.

2. β -SAAs

For the synthesis of Fmoc-SAA(Bn)₃-OH 42 (Scheme 6) we followed the procedure developed earlier in our group for the stereoselective C-glycosidation of 2-acetamido-2-deoxy-D-glucose achieved by the use of the configurationally stable dianion.^{74–77} Starting from D-glucosamine, the partially benzylated sugar **37** was obtained in two steps according to a procedure of Fletcher and Inch.⁷⁸ The amino function was subsequently protected by Z-Cl to obtain 38 in 90% yield. Chlorination of the anomeric hydroxyl group provided the α -chloro compound, which was treated with tributyltin lithium to afford 39 in 79% yield.^{74–77} The generation of the glycosyl dianion **40** was accomplished in two separate temperature steps: first, deprotonation of the urethane nitrogen at -78 °C using 1 equiv of BuLi; second, transmetalation at -55 °C using 1.2 equiv of BuLi. The dianion **40** turned the solution to a deep red color and was subsequently trapped by carbon dioxide to afford **41** in 83% yield. For the application in solid-phase peptide synthesis, 41 was transformed into the Fmocderivative 42. TFA/thioanisole⁷⁹ or catalytic hydrogenolysis on Pd/C⁸⁰ were not selective for removal of the Z group in 41. The best result for cleaving the Z-group was obtained by using trimethylsilyl iodide in $CH_3CN.^{81}$ However, the C^{7} -O-benzyl ether of **41** was cleaved to some extent. While the amount of side product was temperature independent, the yield was optimized by varying the reaction time. The crude reaction mixture was treated with Fmoc-ONSu⁸² to afford 42 in 48% yield.

Vogel and Gries described the synthesis of a 4-amino-4-deoxy-D-galacturonic acid derivative in six steps from methyl 2,3-di-O-benzyl-6-O-(4-methoxy-benzyl)- α -D-glucopyranoside **43** (Scheme 7).⁸³ Treat-

Scheme 7. 4-Amino-4-deoxy-d-galacturonic Acid Derivative



ment of **43** with methanesulfonyl chloride and subsequent substitution of the resulting 4-*O*methanesulfonyl group with sodium azide gave under inversion at *C*-4 the 4-azido-D-galacto derivative. After deprotection at O-6, the carboxyl group was introduced by Corey oxidation and esterified with diazomethane. Conversion of the azidodeoxygalacturonate derivative to the target compound **44** was achieved by reduction with H_2S in pyridine.

Activation of 2-*C*:1-*N* carbonyl-2-deoxyglycopyranosylamines toward opening of the β -lactam ring at the carbonyl carbon has been applied by Mostowicz et al. (Scheme 8) to synthesize *N*-acylglucosylamines with α -D-configuration which are not easily accessible in other ways.⁸⁴

Scheme 8. Synthesis of 2-Deoxy-2-C-acyloyl Compounds



An example, in which the direct oxidation of the primary alcohol failed, because of the delicate functional group assembly, is the synthesis of SAA **45** as part of the enediyne toxin C-1027Chr (Scheme 9).⁸⁵ This compound showed a promising toxicity against certain cell lines. Intriguingly, the amino functionality was introduced intramolecularly by an internal substitution of the triflate group by the nitrogen carbamate.

3. γ -SAAs

Azide **48** has been described by Nitta et al.,⁸⁶ who prepared it from the unstable 2,3,4,6-tetra-O-acetyl-1-bromo-glucopyranoside (obtained from α/β pentaacetylglucopyranoside) using NaN₃/DMF and by Györgydeak et al.⁸⁷ We have improved the overall yield following the route outlined in Scheme 10.88 Glucuronolactone 46 was converted to the methylester with methanol via base catalysis and then acetylated by a mixture of acetanhydride and sodium acetate.⁸⁹ Crystallization allowed separation of the β -acetate **47** from the α -anomer. Other acetylation methods, i.e., acetanhydride/pyridine or acetanhydride/perchloric acid also provide the acetylated glucuronolactone along with the α -acetate. The azide **48** was obtained from **47** using tin tetrachloride and trimethylsilyl azide⁹⁰ in an overall yield of 93%. Catalytic reduction (H₂/Pd) at low temperature provided the free amine quantitatively.

Scheme 9. SAA 45 Was Synthesized as a Building Block for C-1027Chr85



Scheme 10. Synthesis of Azide 48



Later TEMPO catalyzed oxidation was used, starting from the 1-azido-1-deoxyglucopyranose. Methylation with MeI and acetylation facilitated isolation of 48.^{91,92}

The mannuronic acid analogue was synthesized by amination of mannuronic acid with NH₃,⁹³ although no further application is mentioned.⁹⁴ This method is certainly useful for the amination of the anomeric hydroxyl group. Yet it is rarely used in the synthesis of glycoconjugates.

A simple and convenient preparative method of *N*-acetylglucosamine C-glycosides, with high stereo-

Scheme 11. Synthesis of Amino-mannuronic Acid^{93,94,227}



selectivity, was reported by Kim et al.⁹⁵ The β -isomer of the C-glycoside ethyl 2-acetamino-2-deoxy-3,4,6-

Scheme 12. Synthesis of C-Glycoside of N-Acetylglucosamine



Hedenetz and co-workers described the synthesis of 2,3-diacetamido-2,3-dideoxy-D-mannuronic acid derivatives, which is reported in Scheme 13.⁹⁶

Ezoaminuroic acid is a SAA, which is part of the nucleoside antibiotic ezomycin A.⁸ In one of the more recent syntheses of this SAA, the primary hydroxyl group was oxidized after the assembly of the disaccharidic nucleoside employing Widlanski conditions.^{97,98}

4. δ - and ϵ -SAAs

In 1994 we reported the first example of a sugar amino acid (Gum = glucosyl-uronic acid-methylamine SAA **88**) as a new type of peptidomimetic.⁹⁹ The β configurated Gum can be prepared as the Fmoc-



Scheme 13. 2,3-Diacetamido-2,3-dideoxy-d-mannuronic Acid as Bacterial Cell Wall Component *Bacillus stearothermophilus* PV72



Scheme 14. Synthesis of the SAA Ezomycinuroic Acid in a Ezomycin A Derivative



Scheme 15. Synthesis of Fmoc-SAA-OH 51



derivative **51** for SPPS or as Z-SAA-OMe for solution phase synthesis. Synthesis of **51** is reported in Scheme 15. The CH₂NH₂ equivalent is introduced as CH₃NO₂ via nucleophilic aldol reaction. The linear condensation product is cyclized by acid-catalyzed intramolecular ring closure to yield β -D-glucopyranosylnitromethane, which because of its polarity is isolated using basic ion-exchange resin. The nitro compound is reduced with hydrogen, using 10% Pd/C under pressure and subsequent protection with Fmoc-Cl. The primary hydroxyl group is selectively oxidized by TEMPO catalyzed sodium hypochlorite oxidation.^{91,100}

Starting from glucosamine, the α -anomeric, Zprotected SAA **54** is synthesized in an overall yield

Scheme 16. Synthesis of Z-SAA-OH 54





of 37% as described by Heyns and Paulsen (Scheme 16).⁶⁹ The amino function was protected using Z-Cl in 91% yield. The α -methyl glucoside is obtained via the classical acid catalyzed Fischer glycosylation¹⁰¹ using methanol. Subsequently the primary hydroxyl group was oxidized using 10% Pt/C and oxygen.

The β -anomer **58** is prepared from glucosamine in 49% yield. (Scheme 17).^{102,103} The β -methyl glucoside is obtained *via* treatment of bromide **55** with methanol in pyridine and followed by Z-protection. Deacetylation of **56** by methanolysis and subsequent selective oxidation of the primary alcohol with Pt/C/O₂, afforded **58**, which can be employed in standard solution phase peptide synthesis. Since both derivatives— **54** and **58**—are *O*-glycosides, prolonged exposure to acidic conditions, like TFA, leads to degradation.^{104–106}

The oxidation of the primary hydroxyl group can also be facilitated by oxidation with ruthenium(iii)chloride and sodium periodate. The other hydroxyl groups had to be protected during this procedure. Subsequent transformations to obtain the muramic





Figure 6. SAA precursors **59** and **60** and SAA building blocks **61** and **62**.

acid congener could be performed in a straightforward fashion. $^{107}\,$

A library of SAA precursors (three pyranoid and nine furanoid analogues), protected as azido esters, was presented by Lansbury and co-workers¹⁹ as building blocks for combinatorial synthesis. In each case, the amino group was incorporated by displacement of a sulfonate ester with an azide nucleophile. In the case of the pyranoid rings, the carboxyl group was introduced, using an oxidative cleavage of a C-allyl glycosides. SAA precursor **59** (Figure 6) was prepared from 1,6- β -D-anydroglucose in six steps, the key step being a stereospecific C-allylation at the anomeric center. SAA precursor **60** was prepared from peracetylated mannose. The allyl glycoside was generated as an anomeric mixture.

van Boom and co-workers reported the synthesis of partially deoxygenated gluconic amino acids from fully acetylated D-glucal. When incorporated into polypeptide sequences, SAA **61**¹⁰⁸ showed activity against the protein farnesyl transferase (see section V, part D) and SAA **62**¹⁰⁹ stabilized a β -hairpin structure present in the native form. The first step in the synthesis of both building blocks is a Ferrier rearrangement of 3,4,6-tri-O-acetyl-D-glucal with TMS-CN using catalytic BF₃·OEt₂ which gave a mixture of the anomeric cyanides. In SAA 61, the amine group was introduced via a regioselective substitution of the primary alcohol with phthalimide under Mitsunobu conditions, the carboxyl group via hydrolyzation of a cyanide. Hydrogenolysis of the cyanide group afforded the amine, and oxidation of the primary alcohol via Swern to the aldehyde and successive sodium chlorite oxidation to the acid afforded SAA 62.

III. Carbohydrates and SAAs as Scaffolds

Carbohydrates represent an attractive source of readily available, stereochemically defined scaffolds as they contain well-defined and readily convertible substituents with a rigid pyran ring or the more flexible furan ring.^{110–113} The functional pharmacophoric groups can thus be presented in a distinct arrangement.

The genesis of carbohydrate privileged structures was first described by Hirschmann and co-workers.¹¹⁴ A somatostatin agonist was discovered which contained a deoxyglucose nucleus carrying the key amino acid side chains of a cyclic hexapeptide agonist (Figure 7).¹¹⁰ Successively, a NK-1 receptor antagonist was identified by modification of the deoxyglucose-based somatostatin agonist.^{115,116}

The tetrasubstituted xylofuranose **63** was synthesized by Papageorgiou et al. as a potential nonpeptide mimic of somatostatin (Figure 8).¹¹⁷ The scaffold was designed based on molecular dynamics simulations and the results from Hirschmann et al.¹¹⁰ The biological activity of the mixture of the α and β anomers in a ratio of 2:3 revealed a promising IC₅₀ = 16 μ m. They did show a similar conformational behavior as the Hirschmann scaffolds.

A number of carbohydrate-based structures have been designed and synthesized by Nicolaou et al.¹¹⁸ as potential mimics of the potent peptidic antagonist of $\alpha_v\beta_3$ and $\alpha_v\beta_5$, the cyclic pentapeptide RGDfV^{169,189–193} (Figure 9).¹¹⁸ The biological activity of the derivatives was rather low, which indicates that for this receptor the two amide bonds in the lower part of the cyclic peptide are indeed essential for activity.

A focused combinatorial library of mimetics of the RGD sequence based on sugar scaffolds has been rationally constructed by Moitessier et al. with a particular emphasis on the stereoselectivity of the library (Figure 10).^{119,120} In this case a modest biological activity was observed for the $\alpha_{\rm IIb}\beta_3$ antagonists (as low as IC₅₀ = 20 μ m).¹¹⁹ For the $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 antagonists only the percentage of inhibition of cell adhesion on vitronectin substratum was reported.¹²⁰

In search of nonpeptidic endothelin antagonists, Diguarher et al. synthesized a series of derivatives, such as compound **64**, based on the highly active endothelin antagonist BQ123 (Figure 11).¹²¹



Figure 7. Glucose-based scaffold for the cyclic hexapeptide.





Figure 8. Somatostatin scaffold based on xylose by Papageorgiou et al. $^{117}\,$



Figure 9. Scaffold based on glucose by K. C. Nicolaou et al.¹¹⁸ and the cyclic pentapeptide with the bioactive RGD sequence^{169,189–193} and the essential two amide bonds.



Figure 10. $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ (left)¹¹⁹ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ (right)¹²⁰ antagonists based on xylose.



Figure 11. Glucose scaffold based on the cyclic pentapeptide endothelin antagonist BQ 123.¹²¹

Although the side-chain orientations of these compounds were close to those of the cyclic peptide, these derivatives did not show any significant binding to the endothelin receptors. This also indicates that some of the amide linkages in the peptidic backbone might be essential for receptor binding.

Inspired by the work of Hirschmann and Nicolaou, Amstrong and co-workers prepared a D-glucose scaffold of hapalosin (Figure 12), a cyclic depsipeptide



Figure 12. Glucose (and allose) scaffolds based on hapalosin by R. Armstrong.¹²²







Figure 14. Rational design of $\alpha 4\beta 1$ and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin antagonists.

which inhibits the P-glycoprotein, P-gp.¹²² This transmembrane protein effects the removal of a broad spectrum of structurally diverse compounds from within the cell and therefore may play an important role in the phenomena of multiple drug resistance, which is a major problem in cancer therapy.

Unfortunately, like many other scaffold mimetics, this compound did not produce any activity, although these derivatives also contribute to the setting of the framework of structure-activity relationships.

Kunz et al. were able to synthesize large substance libraries of carbohydrates based on solid-phase chemistry, which allowed the defined functionalization of hydroxyl groups.¹¹² Although no biological activities were given, this approach represents a promising access to new lead structures. A similar diversity has been described by Wong et al.¹²² More complex oligosaccharides structures can be synthesized using for example the Ugi reaction as utilized by Lockhoff.¹²³

Recently, we published the design, synthesis and biological evaluation of β -D-mannose based nonpeptidic mimetics of the vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and of the mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1), which are the natural ligands of $\alpha_4\beta_1$ and $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin receptors.¹²⁴

Similar recognition motifs were identified for these ligands: Ile-Asp-Ser- Pro (IDSP) in VCAM-1 and Leu-Asp-Thr (LDT) in MAdCAM-1. By the "spatial screening" procedure a cyclic hexapeptide with high selectivity for cell attachment via the $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin was developed.¹²⁵ This lead structure was used to develop a library of substituted monosaccharides (Figure 15). One sugar-based derivative showed inhibitory activity toward integrin $\alpha_4\beta_1$ -mediated binding of Jurkat cell to VCAM-1.



Figure 15. Design of a library of sugar-based peptidomimetics. In the peptide, the pharmacophoric LDT-motif is localized within a β turn with the aspartic acid in the *i*+1 position. The carbohydrate scaffold presents the essential pharmacophoric groups in the same relative orientation as the lead peptide.¹²⁴

Sugar amino acids in particular are also ideal peptidomimetic scaffolds, as they may function as structural pharmacophores depending on their substituents in addition to the imperative amino and carboxyl function.⁹⁹ Smith et al. reported the design of an inhibitor of mammalian ribonucleotide reductase (mRR) 66 based on the bound conformation of the heptapeptide N-AcFTLDADF using a pyranoid SAA scaffold (Figure 16).¹²⁶ This SAA was employed to mimic a β -turn present in the peptidic precursor and to carry, via ether linkage, the pharmacophores and Leu and Asp side chains, present in the i+1 and i+2 positions of the turn, respectively. A Wittig reaction at the nonprotected anomeric hydroxyl group using ethyl(triphenylphosphoranylidene)acetate followed by cyclization via intramolecular Michael addition afforded the Ala mimicking group attached to the sugar ring via C-glycosidic linkage. The amine group was introduced by activation of the primary hydroxyl and azide formation. The tetrahydropyranbased mimetic **66** was found to inhibit mRR, though considerably less well than *N*-AcFTLDADF (K_i of 400–500 μ M for **66** vs K_i of 15–20 μ M for **65**).

To investigate the potential of carbohydrates for the design and synthesis of universal pharmacophore mapping libraries, two monosaccharide scaffolds **67** and **68** were prepared by Sofia et al.¹²⁷ Three sites of diversification were incorporated to provide the minimal requirements for pharmacophoric chiral molecular recognition: the carboxylic acid moiety, an Fmoc-protected amine, and a hydroxyl group.

Chemical diversity was introduced at the three sites using the solid-phase synthetic approach for **67** reported in Scheme 19. The first diversification step was introduced by anchoring the building blocks to the resin at the C-termini via a prelinked diversity element. Carbamate formation at the free hydroxyl group followed by amide formation at the deprotected amine yielded the desired resin-linked trifunctionalized scaffolds.

IV. Carbohydrate Mimetics

SAAs have also been concentrated on the use of SAA analogues as biopolymer building blocks to mimic oligo- and polysaccharide structures via amide bond linkages.^{128,129} In fact, the assembly of synthetic



Figure 16. Carbohydrate-derived inhibitor 66 of mammalian ribonucleotide reductase.¹²⁶





Scheme 19. Strategy Employed for the Synthesis of the Resin-Linked Trifunctionalized Scaffolds





Figure 17. Carbohydrate-based scaffolds for pharmacophore mapping.^{127,224,225}

polysaccharide libraries in solution or on solid-phase is difficult despite the recent progresses using chemical and enzymatic techniques.^{130,131} Taking advantage of the well-established chemistry of peptides many homooligomers from SAAs and hybrid sequences containing natural amino acids (AAs), carbohydrates, and SAAs have been synthesized. These resultant oligomers represent useful drug candidates, since they may overcome the problems associated with oligosaccharide and peptide libraries such as the susceptibility toward glycosidases due to the altered peptide backbone and their resistance to many proteases due to their resemblance to carbohydrates.

A. Linear Oligomers

The first oligomers were synthesized in solution by Fuchs and Lehmann, although they did only characterize the individual products by mass spectroscopy.^{132–135} The first dimers were synthesized from D-glucosaminuronic acid and D-mannosaminuronic acid by coupling with DCC by Tsuchida et al. in 1976.¹³⁶

More recently, oligomers were synthesized both in solution^{21,28,137} and on solid phase^{138,139} and have been proposed to mimic oligosaccharide²⁷ and oligonucleotide (so-called GNA, glucopyranosyl nucleic amide) (Figure 18)^{104,105} backbone structures via amide bond linkages. The aim of GNA development was to improve the properties of the presently most useful class of antisense agents, the phosphorothioates. Hence, to find more stable agents, less toxic and binders more selective than the phosphorothioates were used. After the discovery, that PNA is a selective binder of DNA and RNA, the idea of replacing the phosphodiester linkages with amide bonds was advisable. Following this idea, Goodnow et al.^{104,105} presented oligomers of Gum as novel antisense agents with the nucleobases attached via N-glycosidic linkage at the anomeric center. The binding properties to DNA and RNA sequences were established by



Figure 18. Oligomers of Gum; R = Me,²³ $R = Bn^{138}$ and with nucleobases.^{104,105}



Figure 19. Oligomers by P. Fügedi's group.^{140,141}

measurement of melting temperatures and related thermodynamic constants. The GNAs showed similar selectivity and binding affinities as DNA and RNA.

Wessel and co-workers, who first introduced in 1995 the synthesis of amide-linked oligomers in solution (Figure 18), used a [2+2] block synthesis.²¹ In their synthetic protocol, the benzyloxycarbonyl (Z) group was employed as amine protecting group, and carboxylic acids were protected as *tert*-butyl ester. The two monomer building blocks were coupled via mixed anhydrides, and the obtained dimer after *tert*butyl deprotection was activated via 2-chloro-4,6dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine (CDMT). No protection of the hydroxyl groups was needed.

Fügedi et al. presented^{22,23,140,141} several oligomers, which were evaluated in glycosidase inhibitor assays (Figure 19) with moderate activities.

McDevitt and Lansbury applied the 1-ethyl-3-(3dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) method in solution.¹⁹ The amino function was protected as an azide. Successively, amide coupling was carried out efficiently via the benzotriazol-1-yloxy-tris-(dimethylamino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate (BOP) and diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA) procedure²⁸ using tert-butoxycarbonyl (Boc) chemistry or via EDC/1hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBt)-catalyzed condensation.¹⁴² A solid-phase approach was developed in 1995 by Müller et al.¹³⁸ using benzhydrylamine polystyrene resin functionalized with an amide linker. The N-protection was achieved with fluoren-9-ylmethoxycarbonyl (Fmoc) group. The free carboxyl group was activated in situ with O-(7-azabenzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate (TATU) in the presence of DIPEA as base without need of hydroxyl protection. Other coupling reagents implemented on solid-phase were O-(7-azabenzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate (HATU)¹⁰⁵ or BOP¹³⁹ in *N*-methylpyrrolidone (NMP) or in N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF) as solvents.

In the field of carbohydrate mimetics, sialic acid analogues have received particular attention. Sabesan²⁰ reported the peptide linked sialoside **69** mimicking an α -D-NeuAc($2 \rightarrow 6$) β -D-Gal unit which is found in numerous glycoproteins and glycolipids and is also a receptor ligand for influenza virus hemagglutinin and substrate for neuraminidase. The inhibitory activity of this mimetic was not reported.

Gervay et al. described the synthesis in solution of amino acid conjugates to *N*-acetylneuraminic acid^{143,144} and later on amide-linked dimeric sequences.^{3,145} Oligomer **70** (Figure 21) was synthesized using solid-phase techniques, and the structures were analyzed in solution to determine whether they adopted the same solution conformation as their glycosyl-linked cognate.¹³⁹ Although the conformational preferences of these structure were not com-



Figure 20. SAA-galactose conjugate **69** with an amide linkage replacing the natural ether linkage.²⁰



Figure 21. Amide-linked sialooligomers by Gervay et al. n = 0-6.^{139,143}

pletely resolved and were dependent on the chainlength, amide proton NH/ND exchange rates determined by NMR and circular dichroism spectra can be interpreted as an evidence for a preferred secondary structure.

SAA oligomers were sulfated as reported by the Ichikawa group (Figure 22) to mimic and replace natural sulfated polysaccharides such as dextran sulfate and heparin, well-known inhibitors of HIV replication, to overcome the poor absorption, instability, and anticoagulant activity of their precursors. A sulfated tetrameric analogue linked via the *C*-1 β -carboxylate and the *C*-2 amino groups fully blocked syncytium formation caused by HIV infection to CD4 cell at 50 μ M concentration,²⁸ and the sulfated β -1,6 amide-linked analogue showed micromolar activity in the protection of MT2 cells from HIV infection.¹³⁷

Hybrid molecules with alternating SAAs and β -amino acids were also designed (Figure 23).¹⁴⁶ The objective was to create another class of nonnatural peptide or carbohydrate molecules and screen them in an in vitro assay system involving highly metastatic tumor cell lines. An inhibitory activity toward cell adhesion (Chemotaxis) and invasion was observed with an IC₅₀ = 10 μ M.

The work of van Boom et al. introduced a new aspect to the synthesis of SAA oligomers. For the first time glycosylated SAAs or disaccharide SAAs were used to assemble the branched oligosaccharide mimetic **71** as a mimetic of the phytoalexin elicitor branched α -methyl heptaglucoside **72** (Figure 24). In

71, four amide bonds replace the β -1,6-acetal linkages of the pentasaccharide backbone of **72**.¹⁴² The building blocks for oligomer **71** were readily accessible by glycal chemistry. The lack of phytoalexin-elicitor activity shown by the β -1,6-glucuronosylamide oligomer was attributed to the reduced flexibility of the amide bond with respect to native acetal bond or to a different molecular structure and hydrogen-bonding potential.

With the aim of designing artificial glycoclusters with specific functions, Nishimura and co-workers¹⁰⁶ reported the synthesis of poly(SAAs) **73** able to self-assemble to form stable monomolecular layers. Polymerization of 1-*O*-dodecyl-Gum, derived from the readily available D-glucofuranurono-6,3-lactone, was accomplished using diphenylphosphoryl azide (DPPA).

B. Cyclic Oligomers

Recently, mixed cyclic oligomers containing SAAs have been proposed by van Boom et al.¹⁴⁷ and by us as potential molecules for host–guest chemistry.^{148,149} 2D NMR data suggests preferred secondary conformations for oligomers **74**¹⁴⁷ and **75**.^{148,149}

The parallel solid-phase synthesis of cyclic sugar amino acid/amino acid hybrid molecules containing furanoid SAAs was carried out by van Boom et al.¹⁴⁷ using Boc *N*-protection strategy and BOP/DIPEA as coupling reagents. The first amino acid was anchored on an oxime resin in order to employ acid catalyzed cyclization and cleavage from the resin.

We also studied the structural implications that cyclization caused on the helical linear oligomer **82** containing SAA **9** alternatively coupled with β -alanine, via circular dichroism and NMR (see next section, VA).^{46,47}

In recent work, we introduced cyclic homooligomers of SAAs as novel cyclodextrin-like artificial receptors.¹⁵⁰ This idea was based upon the assumption that a cyclic array of carbohydrate moieties and amino acid functional groups may lead to exquisite specificity of recognition and catalysis.

By exploiting standard solid and solution phase coupling procedures linear and cyclic homooligomers containing Gum were synthesized.¹⁵⁰ High yields and very short coupling times for the oligomerization and cyclization of sequences containing 2, 3, 4, and 6 units were achieved. The conformational preferences in aqueous solution of the cyclic derivatives and their applications as potential host molecules were described. Taking into consideration the trans config-



Figure 22. SAA oligomer building blocks and general structures of the oligomers by Ichikawa et al. (R = H, SO₃Na).^{28,137}



Figure 23. SAA-amino acid conjugates by Ichikawa et al.¹⁴⁶

uration of the amide bonds and the ${}^{4}C_{1}$ conformation of the pyranoid ring, confirmed via coupling constants and ROE data, two low energy structures were found for the SAA unit which differ in the relative orientation (syn or anti) of the $C-H^5$ and C=O bonds. Stereoviews of the all-syn and all-anti conformations of the cyclic trimer are depicted in Figure 27. The molecular structure of the cyclic oligomers in the allsyn conformation generates a hydrophilic exterior surface and a nonpolar interior cavity which resemble the cyclodextrin molecular shape. Indeed, the complexation of the cyclic hexamer with two model guest molecules (p-nitrophenol, benzoic acid) was proved from titration studies using NMR spectroscopic parameters: chemical shifts, longitudinal relaxations (T_1) and diffusion coefficients. All of them showed different values for host and guest molecules measured independently and in the presence of each other.

C. Glucosidase Inhibitors

Sugar mimics in which the ring oxygen has been replaced by nitrogen have gained considerable interest as inhibitors of glycosidase, enzymes which are involved in numerous biological processes.

The nitrogen substitution renders the compounds metabolically inert but does not prevent their recognition by glycosidases and other carbohydraterecognizing proteins. They inhibit glycosidases by mimicking the pyranosyl and furanosyl moiety of the corresponding substrates. The realization that aminosugar glycosidase inhibitors might have enormous therapeutic potential in many disease or protective mechanisms by altering the glycosylation or catabolism of glycoproteins, or by blocking the recognition of specific sugars, has led to a tremendous interest and demand of these compounds. Thus, glycosidase inhibitors are potential antiviral, anticancer, and antidiabetic drugs. As the extraction and isolation of naturally occurring glycosidase inhibitors from often rather scarce sources is both time-consuming and costly, many natural products and analogues have been synthesized. (For extensive reviews on imino

sugars and on glucosidase inhibitors, see Fleet's, Dwek's, and Bols' reviews in this issue.)

Many of them, may be considered as SAAs, like the examples shown in Figure 28. The analogue 76 of deoxymannonojirimycin was isolated from Lonchocapus seciceus, and has been shown to be a potent and specific inhibitor for both a glucoprotein-processing mannosidase and a bovine α -L-fucoside.¹⁵¹ (2*S*,3*R*,-4*R*,5*S*)-3,4,5-trihydroxypipecolic acid **77** was isolated from Raphia racemosa¹⁵² as a glucuronidase and iduronidase inhibitor.¹⁵³ Siastatin B (8) is a potent neuraminidase inhibitor, and was first isolated in 1974 from *Clostridium perfringens*,¹⁸ its absolute configuration was proven by total synthesis.¹⁵⁴ The inhibitory activity of those isolated natural SAAs, sparked extensive research in that field and many synthetic derivatives were synthesized.^{155,156} Using 76 as a lead structure, Ichikawa et al. developed the potent ($K_i = 79$ nM) β -glucuronidase inhibitor **81**.¹⁵⁷

Of the many ring nitrogen containing glycosidase inhibitors, most are synthesized by reductive cyclic amination. The hydrogenation of pyridine ring is seriously hampered by the lack of crucial stereoselective hydrogenation.

V. Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetics

A. Mixed Linear and Cyclic Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetics

In recent work, we synthesized SAA **9** or SAA **10** containing, mixed linear and cyclic oligomers **82–84** (Figure 29a).^{46,47} β -Ala and GABA were used as amino acid counterparts, because they represent likewise to SAA **9** and SAA **10** β - and γ -amino acids respectively, and they are completely unsubstituted, thus secondary structure results exclusively from the SAA incorporated.

The linear SAA oligomers **82** and **83** were synthesized on the solid-phase using Fmoc-strategy. The large number of 24 unambiguous interresidue NOE contacts (out of a total of 76 NOEs) for oligomer **82**, obtained from extensive NMR studies in CH₃CN, were used in subsequent simulated annealing and MD calculations, to elucidate a 12/10/12-helical structure of oligomer **82** in CH₃CN (Figure 29b), thus indicating that SAA **9** very strongly induces secondary structure.⁴⁶ A characteristic CD curve for oligomer **82** is observed up to 75 °C in both CH₃CN and



Figure 24. Structures of the 3^2 , 3^4 -di- β -D-glucopyranosylgentiopentaoside **72** exhibiting phytoalexin-elicitor activity and the SAA-oligomer **71**.¹⁴²



Figure 25. Poly(SAAs) able to self-assemble.



Figure 26. Mixed cyclic oligomers 74¹⁴⁷ and 75.¹⁴⁹



Figure 27. Stereoviews of the all-syn and all-anti conformations of the cyclic trimer.



Figure 28. Some of the SAA, which are glucosidase inhibitors; their names and references: **76** (2*S*,3*R*,4*R*,5*R*)-3,4,5-trihydroxypipecolic acid,¹⁵¹ **77** (2*S*,3*R*,4*R*,5*S*)-3,4,5-trihydroxypipecolic acid,^{152,153,156} **78** (2*R*,3*R*,4*R*,5*S*)-3,4,5-trihydroxypipecolic acid,¹⁵⁶ **79** (2*S*,4*S*,5*S*)-3,4-dihydroxypipecolic acid,¹⁵⁶ **80** bulgencinine,¹⁵⁶ **8** siastatin B,^{18,154} **81** (3*S*,4*R*,5*R*)-4,5-dihydroxy-3-piperidinecarboxylic acid.¹⁵⁷

CH₃CN/H₂O, even though **82** contains β -Ala, which is known to destabilize helices. In DMSO, however, the data suggests several averaged secondary structures.⁴⁶

83 does not seem to form a stable conformation in solution. The cyclic SAA containing oligomer *cyclo*-[-SAA **9**- β -Ala-]₃ **84** exhibits a *C*₃ symmetric conformation on the NMR chemical shift time scale. However, it is not yet apparent if this a consequence of rapidely interconverting conformations of lower symmetry or if the preferred conformation is indeed a C_3 symmetric conformation.

B. Linear Carbohydrate-Based Peptidomimetic Homooligomers

For the peracetylated tetramers of **25** (Figure 5) as well as for the SAAs **29** and **30**, Fleet et al. observed a repeating β -turn like bond structure by a combination of solution NMR and IR techniques.^{30,63,67,158} All of the oligomers adopt a repeating 10-membered hydrogen-bonded ring structure. These results show that protecting groups and substitution patterns of the hydroxyl groups in the sugar ring do not significantly influence the secondary structure of their homooligomers.

On the basis of their solution NMR studies, Fleet et al. propose a left-handed helical structure for the octamer of **31** (Figure 5). 63,65,159

The tetramer of **26** shows no secondary structure.⁶³ The NMR signals are not dispersed. For all three amide protons the same chemical shift is observed, while for the oligomers above with defined secondary structures dispersed chemical shifts were observed. Chakraborty and co-workers investigated several protected and unprotected oligomers of **26**. The unprotected octamer shows a strong positive band in its CD spectra in MeOH and TFE, which might hint at a possible presence of a distinct secondary structure. However, the ¹H NMR spectra in various polar solvents did not show dispersed chemical shifts for the amide protons.¹⁶⁰

C. Turn Mimetics and Model Peptides

Since proteins tend to exert their biological activity through only small regions of their folded surfaces, their functions could in principle be reproduced in much smaller designer molecules that retain these crucial surfaces. There are many options for modifications, such as introduction of constraints, cyclization, and/or replacement of the peptidic backbone or part of it, carbohydrate in general and SAA in particular provide just that.

SAAs can adopt robust secondary turn or helical structures and thus may allow one to mimic helices or sheets. They can be used as substitutes for single amino acids or as dipeptide isosters. If used as replacement of hydrophobic residues, the sugar can also be functionalized with hydrophobic side chains (e.g., they may be benzylated), however, if hydrophilic residues are replaced, or if solubility should be improved, the sugar hydroxyl groups are unprotected or functionalized with hydrophilic residues.

We explored the conformational influence of a large number of SAAs on the peptide backbone by incorporation of SAA **85–92**, SAA **9**, and SAA **10**, respectively, into several different model peptides as well as in biologically active peptides.^{1,2,44–47,88,161} The cyclic and linear peptides were investigated by NMR spectroscopy, distance geometry, and subsequent MD calculations to determine the potential of the turn-



Figure 29. (a) Mixed linear oligomers **82** and **83** as well as cyclic oligomer **84** of β - and γ -SAA **9** and **10**. (b) Stereoview of the average structure of mixed linear oligomer **82**, as deduced by a 150 picosecond restrained molecular dynamics simulation in an explicit, all-atom CH₃CN solvent box. The side view of the formed right-handed 12/10/12-helix of **82**, consisting of a central 10-membered and two terminal 12-membered H-bonded rings, and with C:O and N-H bonds pointing alternatively up and down along the axis of the helix are shown. All four H-bonds formed are depicted.

inducing and stabilizing potential of SAAs as both local and global constraints. As can be seen in Figure 30 the SAAs do adopt defined turn arrangements in cyclic peptides.

This resulted in a SAA construction kit for predetermined constrained local conformations in synthetic peptides containing a series of SAAs (Figure 31).^{1,2} These units offer possibilities as mimetic structures for both amino acids and dipeptide isosters.

SAAs **87–91** induce β -turns independent of the substitution pattern of the sugar ring while SAA **92** mimics a γ -turn.

The first noncyclic, peptidic β -hairpin structure containing a SAA was recently reported by van Boom et al. They used SAA **62** to stabilize a β -turn in the polypeptide chain AcKKYTVSI–SAA **62**–KKITV-SI.¹⁶²

It was proven by CD and NMR spectroscopy that the peptide adopts a β -hairpin structure in 50% aqueous methanol (Figure 32). However, the peptide remains unfolded in water.

D. Biologically Active Peptides Containing SAA Building Blocks

After verifying the conformational influence of the SAAs in cyclic peptides as compared to the backbone of model peptides we, as well as several other groups, focused our attention on the synthesis, conformational and biological evaluation relative to biologically active peptides. SAAs were used as turn mimetics and local constraints, 1,2,4,44,45,59-61,88,99,108,161 but also to improve pharmacokinetics,^{161,163} to introduce a radioactive label for imaging¹⁶⁴ or to glycosylate a peptide.¹⁶⁵ The opioid, integrin, and somatostatin receptors were some of the pharmacologically interesting targets, which were chosen to investigate. We selected two structurally cyclic peptides, such as the "Veber-Hirschmann" peptide *cyclo*(-Phe-Pro-Phe-D-Trp-Lys-Thr-) **97**^{166,167} and our *cyclo*(-Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Phe-Val-) peptide¹⁶⁸ as well as linear LH-RH analogues as a platform to determine the pharmacological



Figure 30. Superposition of **93** (black) and an idealized $\beta II'/\beta II'$ -turn arrangement (gray); superposition of **94** (black) and an idealized $\beta II'/\beta II'$ -turn arrangement (gray); superposition of **95** (black) and an idealized $\beta II'/\gamma$ -turn arrangement (gray).



Figure 31. Extended SAA construction kit.



Figure 32. Relevant long range and turn region NOEs of **96**.¹⁶²

potential of SAA scaffolds. Soon other groups started using SAAs in various biologically active peptides.

1. Somatostatin Analogues

Somatostatin is a 14-residue cyclic peptide hormone formed in the hypothalamus. Like its precursor, somatostatin-28, it plays an important role in a large number of physiological actions. For instance it inhibits the release of growth hormone (GH),^{169,170} and plays a role in the inhibition of insulin secretion.^{171,172} It was shown that somatostatin analogues inhibit tumor cell growth and induce apoptosis.^{173,174}

The first SAA introduced into a bioactive peptide was glucosyluronic acid methylamine (Gum) **88**.^{88,99} We introduced it as a dipeptide isoster into a cyclic hexapeptide of the "minimal" somatostatin sequence^{166,175} *cyclo*[SAA **88**-Phe-D-Trp-Lys-Thr-]. By various NMR techniques and subsequent distance geometry calculations and molecular dynamic simulation, it was shown that SAA **88** induces a β -turn⁸⁸ (Figure 30).

The growth hormone release was inhibited with an IC_{50} value in the submicromolar range.

More recently, it was demonstrated that the new SAA **9** containing cyclic somatostatin analogues **98** and **99** exhibit strong antiproliferative and apoptotic

activity against multidrug-resistant hepatoma carcinoma.^{44,45} This is of special interest, since resistance to chemotherapy has become a major problem in cancer therapy.

The peptides were assembled on solid phase. Standard Fmoc-protocol was employed, 176 using HATU and HOAt as coupling reagents as well as 2,4,6collidine as base.^{177,178} Cyclization was performed in solution with DPPA under standard conditions.¹⁷⁹ Antitumor activity of the compounds **98–101** was tested on drug sensitive and multi-drug resistant various carcinoma cell lines.^{180–182} A big aromatic residue in the Thr¹⁰ position seems to be essential for high antiproliferative and apoptotic activity. The IC₅₀ values of 75 and 47 μ m of compound **98** and of 31 and of 25 µm of compound 99 for drug sensitive and multidrug-resistant hepatoma cancer cell lines, respectively, make them promising lead compounds for potential chemotherapeutic drugs against multidrug-resistant hepatoma carcinoma. Preliminary results have shown that activity can be even more improved, by replacement of the D-Trp with Lbenzothienylalanine (Bta) resulting in compound 100 or D-Bta compound 101. Those compounds were more active than TT232: cyclo[2,6]-D-Phe-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Cys-Thr-NH₂ **102**,¹⁷³ the only other compound so far known that shows apoptotic and antiproliferative activity against multidrug-resistant carcinoma cell lines. By introducing our new SAA 9 into the peptide backbone, pharmacokinetic properties can easily be improved as well as bioavailability, and enzymaticstability of the compounds will most likely be enhanced.

2. SAAs in Enkephalin Analogs

To explore the effect of the dipeptide isosters SAA **85** and SAA **88** on the conformation of linear peptides



Figure 33. SAA 9 containing compounds 98, 99, 100, and 101 with antiproliverative and apoptotic activity in the low μ m range.



Figure 34. Leu-enkephalin analogues, in which Gly-Gly is replaced by various SAAs.^{61,88,99}

by NMR spectroscopy, we synthesized the Leuenkephalin analogues H-Tyr-SAA **85**–Phe-Leu-OMe (**103**) and H-Tyr-SAA **88**–Phe-Leu-OMe (**104**) (Figure 34).^{88,99} The SAAs replace the Gly-Gly dipeptide of the natural sequence H-Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe-Leu-OH, where Gly-Gly serves as a spacer in enkephalin between the messenger amino acid Tyr which is essential for the activity and the address sequence Phe-Leu responsible for the selectivity.^{183,184}

Due to the functionality of the SAAs, these building blocks can be synthesized as Fmoc-derivatives and then be employed under standard SPPS¹⁷⁶ conditions using the Fmoc strategy and TBTU/HOBt¹⁸⁵ as a coupling reagent. The two enkephalin analogues **103** and **104** showed no biological activity in the guinea pig ileum assay (GPI).

However, when Chakraborty et al. incorporated their furanoid 25, 26, 27, and dideoxy-27 analogously into Leu-enkephalin, the analgesic activity of the resulting compounds 105–108 (Figure 34) was in the same range as that of Leu-enkephalin methyl ester.^{60,61} The N-terminally Boc-protected analogues of 105-108 showed comparable activities as the unprotected ones. For synthesis of their peptidomimetic compounds they employed standard solution Boc strategy, using EDCI and HOBt as coupling agents.¹⁸⁶ Extensive CD and NMR studies, followed by constrained molecular dynamics simulations, revealed that the Boc-protected 105 and Boc-protected 107 have folded conformations composed of an unusual nine-membered pseudo β -turn-like structure with a strong intramolecular H-bond between LeuNH \rightarrow sugarC3-OH. This turn moves the two aromatic rings of Tyr and Phe in close proximity, a prerequisite for biological activities of all opioid peptides. From analysis of the 3D structures of 105-108, they concluded that a *cis-* β -hydroxycarboxyl moiety anchored on a five-membered ring was the essential structural motif, whose presence in some of these analogues was responsible for their folded conformations.

The group of Toth used SAA **91** (Figure 31) to "glycosylate" Leu- and Met-enkephalins via amide bond linkage to the C-terminal Leu or Met, respectively (Figure 35).¹⁶⁵

They constructed the peptides **109–112** on solid phase, using Fmoc-strategy and HBTU/HOBt/DIEA



Figure 35. SAA "glycosylated" enkephalins.¹⁶⁵

as coupling reagents. The peracetylated SAA **91** (Figure 31) azide precursor was reduced on resine by treatment with a mixture of triethylamine and propane-1,3-dithiol to generate the free amine in situ. They thereby used the azide as a amine protecting group instead of the Fmoc-protected SAA **91**. Pharmacological evaluation, using a GPI and mouse vas deferens (MVD) assay, revealed that **109** was three times more potent in the GPI assay and 40 times more potent in the MVD assay than Leu-enkephalinamide at inhibithing electrically stimulated muscle contractions.

3. Protein:Farnesyltransferase

Inhibition of protein: farnesyl transferase (PFT) should be effective to combate colon and pancreatic carcinomas.¹⁸⁷ Ras protein association with the plasma membrane is initiated by posttranslational farnesylation of the cysteine unit of the CAAX box (C, cysteine; A, any aliphatic amino acid; X, serine or methionine) in the pre-Ras protein by PFT, and that is essential for Ras function.¹⁸⁸ Continuous switching on phosphorylation cascade is caused by the activated GTP-bound state, in which oncogenic Ras proteins are locked. Van Boom et al. used SAA 61 and SAA **62** (Figure 6) as dipeptide isoster to replace AA. The resulting compounds 113 and 114 were both less active than for instance CAAX based inhibitors containing 4-aminobenzoic acid as AA. However both compounds show a distinct inhibitory effect—the "2,6cis" isomer, the one containing SAA **61** is an about twice as active inhibitor as the "2,6-trans" isomer, containing SAA 62 (Figure 36).¹⁰⁸



Figure 36. Structures and $\rm IC_{50}$ values PFT inhibitors 113 and 114 by van Boom et al. 108

4. Integrin-Ligands

Integrins are located at the cell surface of a number of different cell types. They play a major role at cell– matrix interactions as well as at tumorgenesis. This invoked a pharmaceutical interest in $\alpha_v\beta_3$ -antagonists, especially with regard to blocking the tumorinduced angiogenesis.^{168,189–193} The recognition sequence of integrin ligands has been shown to be the



Figure 37. The RGD-conformations of the α -(**116**) and β -compounds (**117**) are compared to typical representatives of $\alpha_V\beta_3$ - and $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ -antagonist structures, to the lead peptide *cyclo*(-RGDfV-) and the compound *cyclo*(-D-Abu-*N*MeArg-Gly-Asp-Mamb-) (Abu = A-aminobutyric acid, Mamb = *meta*-(aminomethyl)benzoic acid).²²⁶ View along the pharmacophoric RGD-moiety is directed parallel to the ring plane of the cyclic peptide, as indicated by black arrows.

RGD-motif. We have used SAAs in that sequence as turn mimetic¹⁶¹ to improve the pharmacokinetic properties of the compounds^{161,163} and for tumor imaging to introduce the radio-nuclides.¹⁶⁴ The earliest attempts to modify cyclic RGD-peptides with carbohydrates impaired the biological activity of the RGD-compounds.^{118,194} In more recent work¹⁶¹ we chose as a lead structure for the derivatization of the RGD-motif the cyclic pentapeptide *cyclo*(-Arg-Gly-Asp-D-Phe-Val-) **115**, which binds selectively $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrins.^{168,189–193} In **115** the backbone conformation of the residues D-Phe-Val resembles a β II'-turn, thus forcing the RGD-sequence, which acts as pharmacophore, into a kinked, $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ -selective conformation.

Fully benzylated Gum (both the α - and the β -anomer) has been shown to induce the type of turn necessary for the biological activity^{1,2,88} and also had the aromatic functionality required for enhanced activity. Therefore we used both anomers to replace D-Phe-Val in 115 to give 116 and 117, which exhibit a relatively high $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ activity of IC₅₀ = 150 nm (**116**) and 25 nm (117). However 117 showed also a high activity against the $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ -receptor (IC₅₀ = 13.4 nm). The loss of selectivity of 117 compared to that of the α -SAA-peptide **116** can be explained by the higher flexibility of β -SAA-peptide **117**. Because of that flexibility, a kinked as well as a stretched conformation can be realized in solution. The compound is therefore able to re-adjust its conformation, matching the steric demands of both the $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_{3}$ - and $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ receptor pockets: high activity with a loss of selectivity is the consequence (Figure 37). This is confirmed by their NMR-based structural analysis and subsequent MD-simulations.

To improve pharmacokinetic properties, Val was substituted by Lys, which was glycosylated with different SAAs via an amide bond.^{161,163,164} Activity and selectivity was sometimes even enhanced. Furthermore, via the amine function of the SAAs, ¹⁸Flabeling is possible.^{164,195} In in vivo studies, using $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ -positive and -negative murine and xenotransplanted human tumors receptor-specific binding of the radiolabeled **118** yielded high tumor:background ratios. First, imaging results using a small animal positron emission tomograph suggest **118** is suitable for noninvasive determination of the $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin status and therapy monitoring.

VI. Outlook and Conclusions

The syntheses and transformations and some of the pharmacological features of sugar amino acids have been reviewed, as they represent unique structures among carbohydrates and peptides. The examples presented demonstrate the wide range of their applicability. These range from structural to functional mimetics of natural products. SAA oligomers represent novel oligosaccharide structures with distinct



Figure 38. Structure of **118** and transaxial small animal PET images of nude mice bearing human melanoma xenografts, treated with **118**. Left side: location of images. Middle: $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ positive tumor labeled with **118** (above) and $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ negative tumor (below). Right side: **118** treated $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ positive mice with increasing amounts of soluble RGD peptide.

secondary and tertiary structures that may help to contribute to the understanding of bio-(macro-)molecular assemblies, similar to the peptidic foldamers intensively described by the groups of Gellman and Seebach. 196-223

As for the inherent exquisite arrangement of functional groups in monosaccharides in general, this can be used as chiral templates for functional groups necessary for biological activity. The modern day small molecule design and synthesis of drugs also relies on scaffolds based on carbohydrates as these are powerful tools for the study of molecular recognition in structure-activity relationship studies. The mimetics are small in size, maintain solubility under physiological conditions and are amenable to detailed structural studies. SAA can be modified in this respect to influence the turn pattern and/or the pharmacophoric profile using turn inducing SAAs with the appropriate hydrophobic/hydrophilic substitution pattern.

The synthesis of the building blocks utilize standard carbohydrate chemistry, whereas the assembly of different conjugates results from both state-of-theart peptide chemistry as well as carbohydrate chemistry. Thus the complexity of carbohydrates can be exploited to obtain larger numbers of compounds, as has been the primary objective of combinatorial chemistry in modern drug discovery, where much effort has been devoted to the development of procedures and/or methods that increase the efficiency of the drug discovery process. With modifications in and on the rings, the syntheses of further compounds may also be expected, and their utilization in combinatorial chemistry may also undergo fast progress.

As the scope of modern day synthesis evolves with new techniques and seemingly unlimited access to large amounts of compounds, the bottleneck for combinatorial chemistry and the synthesis of large libraries still remains with synthesis itself.

VII. Abbreviations

- CDMT 2-chloro-4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazine
- DCC dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
- DIEA diisopropylamine
- DMF dimethylformamide
- 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide EDC Fmoc 9-fluorenyloxycarbonyl
- HATU O-(7-azabenzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexafluorophosphate
- NMP *N*-methylpyrrolidone
- SAA sugar amino acid
- TATU O-(7-azabenzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium tetrafluoroborate
- TBTU O-(1H-benzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexafluoroborate
- TEMPO 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidioxyl radical
- TFA trifluoroacetic acid
- THF tetrahydrouran

VIII. References

- Lohof, E.; Burkhart, F.; Born, M. A.; Planker, E.; Kessler, H. In (1)Advances in Amino Acid Mimetics and Peptidomimetics; Abell, A., Ed.; JAI Press Inc.: Stanford, Connecticut, 1999; Vol. 2, p 263
- (2) Lohof, E.; Born, M. A.; Kessler, H. In Synthesis of Peptides and Peptidomimetics; Goodman, M., Felix, A., Moroder, L., Toniolo, C., Eds.; Georg Thieme Verlag: Stuttgart, 2001; Vol. E22b (in press).

- (3) Gervay-Hague, J.; Weathers, T. M. Pyranosyl Sugar Amino Acid Conjugates: Their Biological Origins, Synthetic Preparations, and Structural Characterization, Dekker: New York, 2001.
- (4) Chakraborty, T. K.; Jayaprakash, S.; Ghosh, S. *Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screening* 2001, 4 (in press).
 (5) Williamson, A. R.; Zamenhof, S. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1963, 238, 2255.
 (6) Heyns, K.; Kiessling, G.; Lindenberg, W.; Paulsen, H.; Webster, M. E. *Chem.* Rev. 1965, 02 2495.
- M. E. *Chem. Ber.* **1959**, *92*, 2435. Waltho, J. P.; Williams, D. H.; Selva, E.; Ferrari, P. J. Chem.
- (7)Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1987, 9, 2103.
 (8) Knapp, S. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1859.
- Knapp, S.; Jaramillo, C.; Freeman, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, (9) 4800. (10) Watanabe, K. A.; Falco, E. A.; Fox, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972,
- 94, 3272. (11) Coutsogeorgopoulos, C.; Bloch, A.; Watanabe, K. A.; Fox, J. J. J. Med. Chem. 1975, 18, 771.
- (12) Fox, J. J.; Kuwada, Y.; Watanabe, K. A. Tetrahedorn Lett. 1968,
- 57. 6029. (13) Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Morino, T.; Mezel, H. M. Tetrahedorn Lett. 1975, 16, 665
- (14) M. P. Kotick; R. S. Klein; K. A. Watanabe; Fox, J. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1969, 11, 369.
- Siehl, D. L.; Subramanian, M. V.; Walters, E. W.; Lee, S.-F.; Anderson, R. J.; Toschi, a. G. *Plant Physiol.* **1996**, *110*, 753. (15)
- (16) Nakajima, M.; Itoi, K.; Takamatsu, Y.; Kinoshita, T.; Okazaki, T.; Kawakubo, K.; Shindo, M.; Honma, T.; Tohjigamori, M.; Haneishi, T. J. Antibiot. 1991, 44, 293.
- (17) Haruyama, H.; Takayama, T.; Kinoshita, T.; Kondo, M.; Nakajima, M.; Haneishi, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 7, 1637.
- (18) Umezawa, H.; Aoyagi, T.; Komiyama, T.; Morishima, H.; Ha-mada, M.; Takeuchi, T. J. Antibiot. **1974**, 27, 963.
- (19)McDevitt, J. P.; Lansbury, P. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 3818
- (20) Sabesan, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 3127.
 (21) Wessel, H. P.; Mitchell, C.; Lobato, C. M.; Schmid, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1995**, *34*, 2712.
 (22) C. Peto; P. Fügedi; Wlasichuk, K. 8th European Carbohydrate

- (22) C. Fetto, T. Fugedi, Washchuk, K. an European Carbonydrate Symposium; Sevilla, Spain, 1995; p A.
 (23) P. Fügedi; Peto, C. 8th European Carbohydrate Symposium; Sevilla, Spain, 1995; p A, Abstr.
 (24) Schrey, A.; Osterkamp, F.; Straudi, A.; Rickert, C.; Wagner, H.; Koert, U.; Herrschaft, B.; Harms, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 2007. 2977.7.
- (25) Osterkamp, F.; Ziemer, B.; Koert, U.; Wiesner, M.; Raddatz, P.; Goodman, S. L. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 666. (26) Koert, U. *J. Prakt. Chem.* **2000**, *342*, 325.
- (27)
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Flörke, H.; Egan, M. G.; Barth, T.; Estevez, V. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 1775. (28)
- Suhara, Y.; Hildreth, J. E. K.; Ichikawa, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 1575.
- 1996, 37, 1575.
 (29) Estevez, J. C.; Burton, J. W.; Estevez, R. J.; Ardron, H.; Wormald, M. R.; Dwek, R. A.; Brown, D.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Asymm.* 1998, *9*, 2137.
 (30) Long, D. D.; Smith, M. D.; Marquess, D.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, *39*, 9293.
 (31) Baisch, G.; Öhrlein, R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 1998, *6*, 1673.
 (32) Schwardt, O.; Baisch, G.; Öhrlein, R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2001, *9* 1857

- 9 1857
- (33) Malik, A.; Voelter, W. Chem. Ztg. 1989, 113, 153.
 (34) Dondoni, A.; Marra, A. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4395
- (35) Fakhar-uz-Zaman; Fatima, A.; Malik, A.; Voelter, W. Z. Naturforsch. 1994, 49b, 1434.
- (36) Apostolopoulos, C. D.; Couladouros, E. A.; Georgiadis, M. P. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1994, 781.
- (37)G. Arsequell; Valencia, G. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 2839.
- Kihlberg, J.; Elofsson, M. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **1997**, *4*, 85. Taylor, C. M. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 11317. (38)
- (39)
- (40) Brandstetter, T. W.; de la Fuente, C.; Kim, Y.-H.; Cooper, R. I.; Watkin, D. J.; Oikonomakos, N. G.; Johnson, L. N.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 10711.
- Estevez, J. C.; Smith, M. D.; Lane, A. L.; Crook, S.; Watkin, D. (41)J.; Besra, G. S.; Brennan, P. J.; Nash, R. J.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron Asymm. **1996**, 7, 387.
- (42) Brandstetter, T. W.; Wormland, M. R.; Dwek, R. A.; Butters, T. D.; Platt, F. M.; Tsitsanou, K. E.; Zographos, S. E.; Oikonomakos, N. G.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron Asymm. 1996, 7, 157.
- (43) Estevez, J. C.; Smith, M. D.; Wormland, M. R.; Besra, G. S.; Brennan, P. J.; Nash, R. J.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Asymm.* **1996**, *7*, 391. (44) Gruner, S.; Kessler, H.; Kéri, G.; Venetianer, A. In *2nd Inter*-
- *National/17th American Peptide Symposium*, Lehel, M., Ed.; American Peptide Society: San Diego, CA, 2001 (in press).
- (45)Gruner, S.; Kri, G.; Schwab, R.; Venetianer, A.; Kessler, H. Org.
- (46) Gruner, S.; Truffault, V.; Voll, G.; Locardi, E.; Stöckle, M.; Kessler, H. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2001 (submitted for publication).

- (47) Gruner, S.; Kessler, H. In 26th European Peptide Symposium; Martinez, J.; Fehrentz, J.-A., Eds.; Editions Medicales et Sci-entifiques: Montpellier, France, 2000; p 313.
- (48) Baer, H. H.; Gan, Y. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1991**, *210*, 233.
 (49) Daley, L.; Monneret, C.; Gautier, C.; Roger, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1992, 33, 3749.
- (50) Fernández, J. M. G.; Mellet, C. O.; Blanco, J. L. J.; Fuentes, J. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5565.
 (51) Kulinkovich, L. N.; Timoshchuk, V. A. Zh. Obshch. Khim. (RU)
- Yumikovita, E. N., Thioshan, Y. Hu, *L. C. Constant Theory* (1983, *53*, (9), 2126–2131; **1983**, *53*, 1917. Yamashita, M.; Kawai, Y.; Uchida, I.; Komori, T.; Koshaka, M.;
- (52)Imanaka, H.; Sakane, K.; Setoi, H.; Teraji, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984. 41. 4689.
- Watterson, M. P.; Pickering, L.; Smith, M. D.; Hudson, S. J.; Marsh, P. R.; Mordaunt, J. E.; Watkin, D. J.; Newman, C. J.; (53)Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1999**, *10*, 1855. (54) Hungerford, N. L.; Fleet, G. W. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.
- 1 **2000**, 3680.
- (55) Bichard, C. J. F.; Brandstetter, T. W.; Estevez, J. C.; Fleet, G. W. J.; Hughes, D. J.; Wheatley, J. R.; Dyson, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1996, 17, 2151.
- (56) Brimacombe, J. S.; Tucker, L. C. N. Carbohydr. Res. 1966, 2, 341
- Brimacombe, J. S.; Tucker, L. C. N. Carbohydr. Res. 1965, 1, (57) 332.
- Wheatley, J. R.; Bichard, C. J. F.; Mantell, S. J.; Son, J. C.; (58)Hughes, D. J.; Fleet, G. W. J.; Brown, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1993**, 13, 1065.
- Poitout, L.; Le Merrer, Y.; Depezay, J.-C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, (59)36, 6887
- Chakraborty, T. K.; Jayaprakash, S.; Diwan, P. V.; Nagaraj, R.; (60)Jampani, S. R. B.; Kunwar, A. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 12962.
- (61) Chakraborty, T. K.; Ghosh, S.; Jayaprakash, S.; Sharma, J. A. R. P.; Ravikanth, V.; Diwan, P. V.; Nagaraj, R.; Kunwar, A. C. J. Org. Chem. **2000**, 65, 6441.
- (62) Smith, M. D.; Long, D. D.; Marquess, D. G.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Fleet, G. W. J. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2039.
- (63) Smith, M. D.; Fleet, G. W. J. J. Pept. Sci. 1999, 5, 425.
- (64) Long, D. D.; Hungerford, N. L.; Smith, M. D.; Brittain, d. E. A.; Marquess, D. G.; Claridge, T. d. W.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron Lett. **1999**, 40, 2195.
- (65) Long, D. D.; E., S. R. J.; Nash, R. J.; Marquess, D. G.; Lloyd, J. D.; Winters, A. L.; Asano, N.; Fleet, G. W. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 901.
- (66) Smith, M. D.; Long, D. D.; Martín, A.; Marquess, D. G.; Claridge, T. D. E.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 2191.
 (67) Hungerford, N. L.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Watterson, M. P.; Aplin, R. T.; Moreno, A.; Fleet, G. W. J. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. Lange* **2000** 1 2000, 3666.
- (68) Brittain, D. E. A.; Watterson, M. P.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Smith, M. D.; Fleet, G. W. J. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 2000, 3655.
 (69) Heyns, K.; Paulsen, H. *Chem. Ber.* 1955, *88*, 188.
- (70)Weidmann, H.; Zimmerman, H. K., Jr. Liebigs Ann. 1965, 684, 226
- (71) Dondoni, A.; Scherrmann, M.-C. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6404.
 (72) Dondoni, A.; Scherrmann, M.-C.; Marra, A. J. Org. Chem. 1994, *59*, 7517.
- Koos, M.; Steiner, B.; Langer, V.; Gyepesova, D.; Durik, M. (73)Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 328, 115.
- Wittmann, V.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, (74)32 1091
- (75)Hoffmann, M.; Kessler, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6067.
- (76) Frey, O.; Hoffmann, M.; Wittmann, V.; Kessler, H.; Uhlmann, P.; Vasella, A. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1994**, *77*, 2060. (77)Frey, O.; Hoffmann, M.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.
- 1995, *34*, 2026.
- Inch, T. D.; Fletcher, H. J. Org. Chem. 1966, 31, 1810. (78)
- Kiso, Y.; Ukawa, K.; Akita, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (79)1980, 101.
- (80) Bergmann, M.; Zervas, L. Chem. Ber. 1932, 65, 1192.
- (81) Lott, R. R.; Chauhan, V. S.; Stammer, C. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1979, 495.
- Kortenaar, P. B. W. T.; Bijk, B. G. V.; Peeters, J. M.; Raaben, (82)B. J.; Adams, P. J. H. M.; Tesser, G. I. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 1986, 27, 398.
- (83) Vogel, C.; Gries, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1994, 13, 37.
- (84) Mostowicz, D.; Chmieliwski, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 257, 137.
- (85) Semmelhack, M. F.; Jiang, Y.; Ho, D. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2403.
 (86) Nitta, Y.; Kuranari, M.; Kondo, T. Yakugaku Zasshi 1961, 81, 1189.
- Györgydeak, Z.; Thiem, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 268, 85. (87)
- (88)
- Graf von Roedern, E.; Lohof, E.; Hessler, G.; Hoffmann, M.; Kessler, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, *118*, 10156.
- Wolfrom, M. L.; Thompson, A. Acetylation; Academic Press: New (89)York, 1963.
- Paulsen, H.; Györgydeak, Z.; Friedmann, M. Chem. Ber. 1974, (90)107, 1568.
- (91) de Nooy, A. E. J.; Besemer, A. C. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 8023.

- (92) de Nooy, A. E. J.; Besemer, A. C.; van Bekkum, H. Synthesis 1996, 1153.
- (93) Revel'skaya, L. G.; Anikeeva, A. N.; Danilov, S. N. Zh. Obshchei *Khimii (Ěngl. Transl.)* **1973**, *43*, 1624. (94) Kallin, E. *Methods Enzymol.* **1994**, *242*, 221.
- (95) Kim, K.-I.; Hollingsworth, R. I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, *35*, 1031.
 (96) Hedenetz, A. G.; Schmidt, W.; Unger, F. M. A short synthesis of
- 2,3-diacetamido-2,3-dideoxy-D-mannuronic acid-derivatives; Ges. Österr. Chem.: Innsbruck, 2000.
- Epp, E. B.; Widlanski, T. S. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 293. (97)
- (98) Knapp, S.; Gore, V. K. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1391.
- Graf von Roedern, E.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. (99)1994, *33*, 667.
- (100) Davis, N. J.; Flitsch, S. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 1181.
- (101) Fischer, E. *Ber.* **1893**, *26*, 2400.
 (102) Irvine, J. C.; McNicoll, D.; Hynd, A. *J. Chem. Soc.* **1911**, *11*, 250.
- (103) Fodor, G.; Ötvös, L. *Chem. Ber.* **1956**, *89*, 701.
 (104) Goodnow, R. A. J.; Richou, A.-R.; Tam, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**,
- 38 3195 (105)
- Goodnow, R. A. J.; Tam, S.; Pruess, D. L.; McComas, W. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 3199. (106)Nishimura, S.-I.; Nomura, S.; Yamada, K. Chem. Commun. 1998,
- 617.
- (107) Hecker, S. J. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 6051.
- (108) Overkleeft, H. S.; Verhelst, S. H. L.; Pieterman, E.; Meeuwenoord, N. J.; Overhand, M.; Cohen, L. H.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4103.
- (109)Aguilera, B.; Siegal, G.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Meeuwenoord, N. J.; Rutjes, F. P.; van Hest, J. C.; Schoemaker, H. E.; van der Marel, G. Å.; van Boom, J. H.; Overhand, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 1541.
- (110) Hirschmann, R.; Nicolaou, K. C.; Pietranico, S.; Leahy, E. M.; Salvino, J.; Arison, B.; Cichy, M. A.; Spoors, P. G.; Shakespeare, W. C.; Sprengler, P. A.; Hamley, P.; Smith, A. B., III; Reisine, T.; Raynor, K.; Maechler, L.; Donaldson, C.; Vale, W.; Freidinger, R. M.; Cascieri, M. A.; Strader, C. D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 12550.
- (111) Bols, M. Carbohydrate Building Blocks; Wiley: New York, 1996.
 (112) Wunberg, T.; Kallus, C.; Opatz, T.; Henke, S.; Schmidt, W.; Kunz, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 2503.
- (113) Schweizer, F.; Hindsgaul, O. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1999, 3, 291
- (114) Hirschmann, R.; Nicolaou, K. C.; Pietranico, S.; Salvino, J.; Leahy, E. M.; Sprengler, P. A.; Furst, G.; Smith, A. B., III. 1992, *114*, 9218.
- (115) Hirschmann, R.; Yao, W.; Cascieri, M. A.; Strader, C. D.; Maechler, L.; Cichy, M. A.; Jr., J. H.; Rijn, R. D. v.; Sprengler, P. A.; Smith, A. B., III. *J. Med. Chem.* **1996**, *39*, 2441.
- (116) Hirschmann, R.; J. Hynes, J.; Cichy-Knight, M. A.; Rij, R. D. v.; Sprengeler, P. A.; Spoors, P. G.; Shakespeare, W. C.; Pietranico-Cole, S.; Barbosa, J.; Liu, J.; Yao, W.; Rohrer, S.; Smith, A. B., III. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 1382.
- (117) Papageorgiou, C.; Haltiner, R.; Bruns, C.; Petcher, T. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1992, 2, 135.
- (118) Nicolaou, K. C.; Trujillo, J. I.; Chibale, K. Tetrahedron 1997, *53*, 8751.
- (119) Moitessier, N.; Minoux, H.; Maigret, B.; Chretien, F.; Chapleur,
- *Y. Lett. Pept. Sci.* **1998**, *5*, 75. Moitessier, N.; Dufour, S.; Chretien, F.; Thiery, J. P.; Maigret, B.; Chapleur, Y. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *9*, 511. (120)
- (121) Diguarher, T. L.; Boudon, A.; Elwell, C.; Paterson, D. E.; Billington, D. C. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 1983.
- Dinh, T. G.; Smith, C. D.; Du, X.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Med. (122)Chem. 1998, 41, 981.
- Lockhoff, O. Angew. Chem. 1998, 110, 3634. (123)
- (124) Boer, J.; Gottschling, D.; Schuster, A.; Holzmann, B.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem. 2001, in print.
- Boer, J.; Gottschling, D.; Schuster, A.; Semmrich, M.; Holzmann, B.; Kessler, H. J. Med. Chem. **2001**, 44, 2586. (125)
- (126) Smith, A. B., III; Sasho, S.; Barwis, B. A.; Sprengeler, P.; Barbosa, J.; Hirschmann, R.; Cooperman, B. S. *Bioorg. Med.* Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 3133.
- (127) Sofia, M. J.; Hunter, R.; Chan, T. Y.; Vaughan, A.; Dulina, R.; Wang, H.; Gange, D. *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63*, 2802.
 (128) Kirshenbaum, K.; Zuckermann, R. N.; Dill, K. A. *Curr. Opin.*
- (129) Krishenbaun, K., Zuckermann, K. N., Din, K. A. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1999, 9, 530.
 (129) Soth, M. J.; Nowick, J. S. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1997, 1, 120.
 (130) Seeberger, P. H.; Haase, W.-C. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4349.

- (131) Seeberger, P. H. Solid support oligosaccharide synthesis and combinatorial carbohydrate libraries; Wiley: New York, 2001.
- (132) Fuchs, E. F.; Lehmann, J. Chem. Ber. 1975, 108, 2254
- (133) Fuchs, E. F.; Lehmann, J. Chem. Ber 1975, 45, 135.
- (134) Fuchs, E. F.; Lehmann, J. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1976**, *49*, 267.
 (135) Fuchs, E. F.; Lehmann, J. *Chem. Ber.* **1976**, *109*, 267.
 (136) Yoshimura, J.; Ando, H.; Sato, T.; Tsuchida, S.; Hashimoto, H.
- *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1976**, *49*, 2511. Suhara, Y.; Ichikawa, M.; Hildreth, J. E. K.; Ichikawa, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 2549. (137)

- (138) Müller, C.; Kitas, E.; Wessel, H. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. *Commun.* **1995**, *23*, 2425. (139) Szabo, L.; Smith, B. L.; McReynolds, K. D.; Parrill, A. L.; Morris,
- (139) Szabo, L.; Smith, B. L.; McKeynolds, K. D.; Parrill, A. L.; Morris, E. R.; Gervay, J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 1074.
 (140) P. Fügedi; C. Peto; Wang, L. 9th European Carbohydrate Symposium: Mailland, Italy, 1996; p Abstract B0 013.
 (141) Fügedi, P.; Petö, C. J.; Wang, L. 9th European Carbohydrate Symposium: Uetrecht, Netherlands, 1997; p A113.
 (142) Timmers, C. M.; Turner, J. J.; Ward, C. M.; van der Marel, G. A. Kouwiizer M. L. Croatenbuis, P. D.; van Boom, I. H. Chem.
- A.; Kouwijzer, M. L.; Grootenhuis, P. D.; van Boom, J. H. *Chem. Eur. J.* **1997**, *3*, 920.
- (143) Ramamoorthy, P. S.; Gervay, J. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 7801. (144) Gervay, J.; Ramamoorthy, P. s.; Mamuya, N. N. Tetrahedron
- 1997, *53*, 11039. (145) Gervay, J.; Flaherty, T. M.; Nguyen, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1493.
- (146) Suhara, Y.; Izumi, M.; Ichikawa, M.; Penno, M. B.; Ichikawa, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7167.
- (147) van Well, R. M.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Overhand, M.; Vang Carstenen, E.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 9331
- (148) Stöckle, M.; Locardi, E.; Gruner, S.; Kessler, H. 20th International Carbohydrate Symposium, 2000; p 124
- (149) Stöckle, M.; Kessler, H. 11th European Carbohydrate Symposium: Lisbon, 2001; p P157.
- (150) Locardi, E.; Stöckle, M.; Gruner, S.; Kessler, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8189.
- (151) Park, K. H.; Yoon, Y. J. L., S. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2621.
- (152) Manning, K. S.; Lynn, D. G.; Shabanowitz, J.; Fellows, L. E.; Singh, M.; Schrire, B. D. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1985, 127
- (153) di Bello, I. C.; Dorling, P.; Fellows, L.; Winchester, B. FEBS Lett. **1984**, *176*, 61.
- (154) Nishimura, Y.; Wang, W.; Kondo, S.; Aoyagi, T.; Umezawa, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7249.
- (155) Nishimura, Y.; Shitara, E.; Adachi, H.; Toyoshima, M.; Nakajima, M.; Okami, Y.; Takeuchi, T. J. Org. Chem. **2000**, 65, 2. (156) Bashyal, B. P.; Chow, H.-F.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron Lett.
- 1986, 27, 33205.
- (157) Igarashi, Y.; Ichikawa, M.; Ichikawa, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 7, 2707
- (158) Smith, M. D.; Claridge, T. D. W.; Tranter, G. E.; Sansom, M. S.
- P.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Chem. Commun.* **1998**, 2041. Claridge, T. D. W.; Long, D. D.; Hungerford, N. L.; Aplin, R. T.; Smith, M. D.; Marquess, D. G.; Fleet, G. W. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* (159)
- (160) Chakraborty, T. K.; Jayaprakash, S.; Srinivasu, P.; Chary, M. G.; Diwan, P. V.; Nagaraj, R.; Sankar, A. R.; Kunwar, A. C. *Tetrahedorn Lett.* 2000, *41*, 8167.
- (161) Lohof, E.; Planker, E.; Mang, C.; Burkart, F.; Dechantsreiter, M. A.; Haubner, R.; Wester, H.-J.; Schwaiger, M.; Hölzemann, G.; Goodman, S. L.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, 39, 2761.
- (162) Aguilera, B.; Wolf, L. B.; Nieczypor, P.; Rutjes, F. P.; Overkleeft, H. S.; van Hest, J. C.; Schoemaker, H. E.; Wang, B.; Mol, J. C.; Furstner, A.; Overhand, M.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3584.
- (163) Haubner, R.; Wester, H.-J.; Burkhart, F.; Senekowitsch-Schmidtke, R.; Goodman, S. L.; Kessler, H.; Schwaiger, M. J. Nucl. Med. 2001, 42, 326.
- (164) Haubner, R.; Wester, H.-J.; Weber, W. A.; Mang, C.; Ziegler, S. I.; Goodman, S. L.; Senekowitsch-Schmidtke, R.; Kessler, H.; Schwaiger, M. Cancer Res. 2001, 61, 1781.
- (165) Drouillat, B.; Kellam, B.; Dekany, G.; Starr, M. S.; Toth, I. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1997, 7, 2247.
- (166) Veber, D. F.; Freidinger, R. M.; Perlow, D. S.; Paleveda, W. J. J.; Holly, F. W.; Strachan, R. G.; Nutt, R. F.; Arison, B. H.; Homnick, C.; Randall, W. C.; Glitzer, M. S.; Saperstein, R.; Hirschmann, R. *Nature* **1981**, *292*, 55.
- (167) Kessler, H.; Bernd, M.; Kogler, H.; Zarbock, J.; Soerensen, O. W.; Bodenhausen, G.; Ernst, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6944.
- (168) Aumailley, M.; Gurrath, M.; Müller, G.; Calvete, J.; Timpl, R.; Kessler, H. FEBS Lett. 1991, 291, 50.
- (169) Brazeau, P.; Vale, W.; Burgus, R.; Guillemin, R. Can. J. Biochem. 1974, 52, 1067.
- (170) Brazeau, P.; Vale, W.; Burgus, R.; Ling, N.; Butcher, M.; Rivier, J.; Guillemin, R. Science 1973, 179, 77
- (171) Tamarit, J.; Tamarit-Rodriguez, J.; Goberan, R.; Lucas, M. Rev. Esp. Fisiol. 1974, 30, 299.
- (172) Christensen, S. E.; Hansen, A. P.; Iversen, J.; Lundbaek, K.;
- (172) Christensen, S. E., Hansen, A. P., Iversen, J., Luhobaek, K., Orskov, H.; Seyer-Hansen, K. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 1974, 34, 321.
 (173) Kéri, G.; Erchegyi, J.; Horváth, A.; Mezo, I.; Idei, M.; Vántus, T.; Balogh, À.; Vadásu, Z.; Bökönyi, G.; Seprodi, J.; Teplán, I.; Csuka, O.; Tejeda, M.; Gaál, D.; Szegedi, S.; Szende, B.; Roze, C.; Kalthoff, H.; Ullrich, A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1996, 21 (2017) *93*, 12513
- (174) Virgolini, I. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 1997, 27, 793.

- (175) Veber, D. F. In 6th American Peptide Symposium; Gross, E.; Meienhofer, J., Eds.; Pierce Chem. Co.: Rockford, IL, 1979; p 409
- (176) Fields, G. B.; Nobel, R. L. Int. J. Pept. Protein Res. 1990, 35, 161.
- (177) Carpino, L. A.; El-Faham, A.; Albericio, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2279.
- Carpino, L. A.; El-Faham, A.; Minor, C. A.; Albericio, F. J. Chem. (178)Soc. Chem. Commun. 1994, 2, 201.
- (179)Shioiri, T.; Ninomiya, K.; Yamada, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94. 6203.
- (180)Venetianer, A.; Pinter, Z.; Gal, A. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 1980, 28. 280.
- (181) Diaconu, C.-C.; Szathmári, M.; Kéri, G.; Venetianer, A. Br. J. Cancer 1999, 80, 1197.
- (182)Pirity, M.; Hever-Szabo, A.; Venetianer, A. Cytotechnology 1996, *19*. 207.
- (183)Portoghese, P. S. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 1927.
- Portoghese, P. S.; Sultana, M.; Takemori, A. E. J. Med. Chem. (184)**1990**, *33*, 1714.
- (185)Knorr, R.; Trzeciak, A.; Bannwarth, W.; Gillessen, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 1927.
- Sheehan, J. C.; Ledis, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 875. (186)
- Barbacid, M. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1987, 56, 779 (187)
- (188)Zhang, F. L.; Casey, P. J. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1996, 65, 241. (189) Gurrath, M.; Mueller, G.; Kessler, H.; Aumailley, M.; Timpl, R.
- Eur. J. Biochem. 1992, 210, 911. (190) Pfaff, M.; Tangemann, K.; Müller, B.; Gurrath, M.; Müller, G.; Kessler, H.; Timpl, R.; Engel, J. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 20233.
- (191) Haubner, R.; Gratias, R.; Diefenbach, B.; Goodman, S. L.; Jonczyk, A.; Kessler, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, *118*, 7461.
- (192) Haubner, R.; Finsinger, D.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1997**, 36, 1374.
- (193) Haubner, R.; Finsinger, D.; Kessler, H. Angew. Chem. 1997, 109, 1440
- (194) Kessler, H.; Diefenbach, B.; Finsinger, D.; Geyer, A.; Gurrath, M.; Goodman, S. L.; Hoelzemann, G.; Haubner, R.; Jonczyk, A.; Müller, G.; Graf von Roedern, E.; Wermuth, J. *Lett. Pept. Sci.* 1995, 2, 155.
- (195) Haubner, R.; Wester, H.-J.; Bock, M.; Senekowitsch-Schmidtke, R.; Herz, M.; Reuning, U.; Diefenbach, B.; Stöcklin, G.; Kessler, H.; Schwaiger, M. *J. Labelled Compds. Radiopharm.* **1999**, *42*, 36.
- (196) Schreiber, J. V.; Seebach, D. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2000, *83*, 3139.
 (197) Appella, D. H.; Christianson, L. A.; Karle, I. L.; Powell, D. R.; Gellman, S. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1996, *118*, 13071.
- (198) Dado, G. P.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 925.
 (199) Krauthäuser, S.; Christianson, L. A.; Powell, D. R.; Gellman, S.
- H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 11719.
 (200) Stanger, H. E.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120,
- 4236
- (201) Schenck, H. L.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4869
- Applequist, J.; Bode, K. A.; Appella, D. H.; Christianson, L. A.; Gellman, S. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 4891. Seebach, D.; Abele, S.; Sifferlen, T.; Hänggi, M.; Gruner, S.; (202)
- (203) Seiler, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 1998, 81, 2218.
- Hintermann, T.; Gademann, K.; Jaun, B.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1998, 81, 983. (204)
- (205) Seebach, D.; Abele, S.; Schreiber, J. V.; Martinoni, B.; Nussbaum, A.; Schild, H.; Schulz, H.; Hennecke; woessner, R.; Bitsch, F. Chimia 1998, 52, 734.
- Krebs, S.; Lamas, J.; Poenaru, S.; Folkers, G.; Castro, J. A. L. (206)d.; Seebach, D.; Rogan, D. J. Biol. Chem. 1998, 273, 19072.
- (207) Abele, S.; Guichard, G.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1998, 81, 2141.
- (208) Daura, X.; Jaun, B.; Seebach, D.; vanGunsteren, W. F.; Mark, A. E. J. Mol. Biol. 1998, 280, 925.
- (209) Seebach, D.; Poenaru, S.; Folkers, G.; Rognan, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1998, 81, 1181.
- Gademann, K.; Ernst, M.; Hoyer, D.; Seebach, D. Angew. Chem., (210)Int. Ed. Engl. **1999**, 38, 1223.
- (211) Jacobi, A.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1999, 82, 1150.
- (212) Gademann, K.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1999, 82, 957.
- (213) Appella, D. H.; Christianson, L. A.; Klein, D. A.; Powell, D. R.; Huang, X.; Barchi, J. J., Jr.; Gellman, S. H. Nature 1997, 38, 381.
- Wang, X.; Espinosa, J. F.; Gellman, S. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (214)2000, 122, 4821.
- (215)Seebach, D.; Overhand, M.; Kühnle, F. N. M.; Martinoni, B.; Oberer, L.; Hommel, U.; Widmer, H. Helv. Chim. Acta 1996, 79, 913.
- (216)Seebach, D.; Ciceri, P. E.; Overhand, M.; Jaun, B.; Rigo, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1996, 79, 2043.
- Seebach, D.; Gademann, K.; Schreiber, J. V.; Matthews, J. L.; (217)Hintermann, T.; Jaun, B. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1997**, *80*, 2033. Seebach, D.; Matthews, J. L. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 2015.
- (218)
- Matthews, J. L.; Overhand, M.; Kühnle, F. N. M.; Ciceri, P. E.; (219)Seebach, D. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1997, 1371.

- (220) Hintermann, T.; Seebach, D. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1998, *81*, 2093.
 (221) Podlech, J.; Seebach, D. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* 1995, 1217.
 (222) Guichard, G.; Abele, S.; Seebach, D. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1998, *81*,
- 187.
- (223) Gademann, K.; Ernst, M.; Seebach, D. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2000, *83*, 16.
 (224) Silva, D. J.; Wang, H.; Allanson, N. M.; Jain, R. K.; Sofia, M. J. *J. Org. Chem.* 1999, *64*, 5926.

(225) Sofia, M. J. Med. Chem. Res. 1998, 8, 362.

- (226) Bach, A. C., II; Espina, J. R.; Jackson, S. A.; Stouten, P. F. W.; Duke, J. L.; Mousa, S. A.; DeGrado, W. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1996, *118*, 293.
- (227) Likhosherstov, L. M.; Novikova, O. S.; Derevitskaja, V. A.; Kochetokov, N. K. Carbohydr. Res. 1986, 146, C1.

CR0004409